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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND
ETHICSIN WASHINGTON, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

V. Case Nol16-cv-2255(CRC)
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION,

Defendant
AMERICAN ACTION NETWORK, INC,,

Intervenor Defendant

MEM ORANDUM OPINION

This is the second in a series of caseslving the Federal Election Commission and its
(non)regulation of American Action Network, Inc. (“AAN"),selfdescribed “issu@riented
action tankthat ran nearly $18illion in televisionadvertisementgust beforethe 2010 federal
midterm electioa Citizens for Responiility and Ethics in Washingtera watchdog group
known as‘CREW'—contendghat AAN’s spending on these adsnderedt a “political
committee”as defined in the Federal Election Campaign Act of 19%1d, according to
CREW, becaus@®AN did not registerns a political committeduring the relevant time period
evaded théct's recordkeeping and disclosure requireméinés apply to those groups

In 2012 CREW filed anadministrative complainvith the Commissiono thateffect By
an evenly dividedrote theCommission dismisseGREW’scomplaintbecause majority of the
Commissioners did not fintteason to believethat AAN violated the Act.52 U.S.C. §

30109(a)(2).Specifically, the three controlling Commissioneosicludedhat AAN did not
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qualify as a political committebecauseét lackeda “major purpose” of nominating or electing a

candidatefor federal office Buckley v. Valeg 424 U.S. 179 (1976). This Courtin aprevious

decisionheldthatdismissal‘contrary to law”becauset rested oran erroneoupremise
regardingBuckleys “major purpose” requiremenOn remand, th€ommission again dismissed
CREW'’s complainin adeadlockedlecision.

CREW then filed this suit challenging the Commission’s second dishaissontrary to
law. Because the Court finds that the Commissi@malysis was inconsistent with the
governing statutest will grant summary judgment in favor @REWand remand this matter to
the Commission.

|I. Background

A. Legal Background

TheFederal ElectiorCampaign Acbf 1971(“FECA”), as substantially amended in
1974, requlate federal elections in two key way#irst, the law setsmonetarylimits on
contributionsto political patties and candidatessee52 U.S.C. § 30116Second,it imposes
disclosure requirements entities thaspend money fathe purpose ohfluencingelections
even wherthat spendingloes not go directly to a candidate’s coffegzeid. § 30104.

This case is about FECA's disclosure requiremessisecifically,those triggered by
spending omolitical advertisementsin broadterms, these disclosure requiremesgsve”three
important interests: providing the electorate with relevantinddion about the candidates and

their supporters; deterring actual corruption and discouraging thd msmey for improper

purposes; and facilitating enforcement of the prohibitioneenAct” McConnell v. FEC 540

U.S. 93,121 (2003) ¢ontrollingopinion of Stevens & O’Connor, J.J.)



Someof FECA’s disclosureequirementsiretriggered by certain types of
communications For example, aentity thatmakes “hdependent expenditig’e—that is, a
communicatiorfexpressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified datei52
U.S.C.8 30101(1y—of over $250n a calendar yeanustfile a report with the Commission
containing information aboutself and its contributorsd. 8 30104(c)

FECA alsoimposes more pervasivksclosureequirements on entities based on their
campaigrrelated spendingatterns As relevant here, “plitical committees—commonly
referred taas“political action committe® or “PACs—are subject t@xtensive, ongoing
disclosure requirement3.heymustappoint a treasurekeep records with the names and
addresses of contributors, afild regularreports duringa general election year with accounting
information, includinghe amounts spent on contributions and expendituigs§§ 30102—-04.
They must also register with the Federal Election Commission eipfalties.ld. 88
30104a)(b), 30109(d)(1).

An entity qualifies as a political committeehenit satisfies twoseparateonditions. The
first was imposed by Congressthe text of FECAthe entitymustreceiveor spendmore than
$1,000 in a calendar yefar the purpose ahfluencing a federal electiorid. § 30101(4)(A)
(8)(A)(i), (9)(A)(i).! The secondonditionwasimposed by the Supreme CourtBackley v.
Valeoas anarrowing constructionf the statutory definition UnderBuckley, political

committees are limitetb those‘organizations that are under the control of a candidatieeor

1 More precisely, FECA defines “political committee” as “any comemittclub,
association, or other group of persons which receives contrisutggregating in excess of
$1,000 during a calendar year or which makes expenditures aggregatiogss ek$100
during a calendar year.” 52 U.S.C. § 30101(4)(A). “Contributions” anpeieditures” are both
restricted to payments made “for the purpose of influencingkaayion for Federal office.’ld.

§ 30101(8)(A)(i), (9)(A)().



major purpose of which is the nomination or election of a candida&24 U.S.at 79 (emphasis
added). A broaderefinition of “political committeg” the Court explained;ould raise problems
of vagueness under the First Amendmenthogateninghe speech digroups engaged purely in
issue discussion” and not just those engaged in “campaign relatedtyadul.

Several decades aftBuckley, Congress irthe BipartisanCampaign Reform Act of 2002
("BCRA") amended FECA to addhportant newdisclosuraequirements BCRA wasaimed
among other targets, tite postBuckleyrise of corporat@and union spending on atleat were
nominally related to political issues buereclearly intended to sway voters in upcoming federal
elections. SeeMcConnel| 540 U.S. at 12632 Tocapturethese'so-called issueds; id. at
126,Congressreateda new category afommunicationgalled“electioneering
communications™television advertisements that air within 60 days of a federalaieciearly
identify a candidate running for federal office, and target thearteslectorate52 U.S.C 8
301041)(3)(A)(i). Corporationspending over $10,0Gihthose communicatiain a calendar
yearmustfile a statement with th€ommission that discloses information about the erttigy
candidates identified in the communicatioti® recipients c&nydisbursementsandanydonors
who gave over $1,00@ward electioneering communications sinceliéginning of the
precedingcalendar yearld. § 30104()(2); 11 C.F.R. § 104.20(c)®)Ads that qualify as

electioneeringgommunicationsnustalsoinclude disclaimers with information like tiiameof

2 More specifically, FECAequires electioneering communication reportsdatain“the
names and addresses of all contributors who contributed an aggregate afi$1,000 or more
to the person making the disbursemdunting the period beginning on the first day of the
precedingcalendar year ahending on the disclosure dat&2 U.S.C. § 30104(f)(2)(F)With
respect to corporations like AANi¢ Commission by reguian has interpreted the statute’s
reference to such contributors as limited to donatiomsde for the purposd @urthering
electioneering communicatiofisll C.F.R. § 104.20(c)(9emphasis added)The D.C. Circuit
hasupheld this “purpose requiremerafjainst challenge under the Administrative Procedure
Act. Van Hollen, Jr. v. FEC311 F.3d 486, 4890 (D.C. Gr. 2016).




theentity that paid for thadand whethethe adwas authorized by a candidate2 U.S.C 8§
30120(a)seell C.F.R. § 100.11}(3).

TheFederal Election Commission (“FEC’an independent agency with six
Commissioners, is responsible for enforcing FECA'’s discsequirementsSee52 U.S.C. §
30106(b)(1) TheCommission has not adopted a riiiat furtherclarifies the meaning of
Buckleys “major purpose’limitation. Rather it has takera caseby-case approachy deciding
whetherparticularentitieshave a major purpose of narating or electing a candidat&ee
Shays v. FEC511F. Supp. 2d.9, 30(D.D.C. 2006) This approackvas ultimatelyupheldby a
fellow judge in this Districhgainst challenge under tAeministrative Procedure ActSeeid.

Any person or entity may file a complaint with tBemmissiorasserting a FECA
violation. 52 U.S.C.8 30109(a)(1).If four or more Commissionefgd “reason to believe” that
FECA was or will soon be violated, then tiemmissiomrmust investigateld. 8 30109(a)(2).
Otherwise the complaint is dismissedeeid. 8 30106(c).In the event of dismissal, the
controlling group of Commissionershere, those voting against enforcementust provide a

statement of reasons explaining the dismissal deciSeeFEC v. Natl Republican Senatorial

Comm.(“NRSC'), 966 F.2d 1471, 1476 (D.Cir. 1992). “Any party aggrieved” by an FEC

dismissal decisiomay petition forthis Courts review. 52 U.S.C8 30109(a)(8)(A).If the
Court finds the statement of reasons to be contrary to law, it canttieel€EC to take action
within 30 dayghat“conforms with the Courtsruling. 1d. 8 30109(a)(8)(C).

B. Factualand Procedurd@aackground

1. The FEC's FirstDismissal
AmericanAction Network (“AAN”) is a tax-exempt 8 501(c)(4)ieic organization Joint

Appendix(“J.A.”) 1490-91(ECF No. 46) Thegroup’sstated mission is to “create, encourage



and promote centeight policies based on the principles of freedom, limited gavent,

American exceptionalism, and strong national securify&. 1490. To advance that mission,

AAN has sponsoredducational activitieand grassroots event8ut themajority of its

spending throughout the periatlissuen this case-July 23,2009 throughlune30, 201 —was
onpolitical advertisementsOf its $27.1 million intotal spending over that peripplist over $4
million was devoged to independemxpenditures—i.e., ads expressly advocatifigr or against
federalcandidate.J.A. 1765. An additional$13.7 million was devoted to electioneering
communications-i.e., ads run near an election that identify a candidate and target the relevant
electorae. Id.

In June 2012CREWand its therexecutive director filed @omplaintwith the FEC
alleging thatAAN’s spendingnear the 2010 midtermienderedt an unregistered political
committee.J.A. 1480-88. The FEC'’s Office of General Counsel revieltbe complaint and
recommendethat the Commissiomvestigatat because there wasason to believithat AAN
was indeed a political committedd. at 1659. Nevertheless, in June 2Qlthe Commissioners
deadlocked thre®o-threeon whethe to commence an istigation andaccordingly the
CommissiordismissedCREW’scomplaint 1d. at 1689.

Thethreecontrolling Commissiona—those voting against investigatienssueda
Statement of Reasopgplainingthat AAN was not a political committee becausdid not have
a major purpose of nominating or electing a federal candidate 1690—-723.The
Commissioneréirst explained that, based on AAN’s organizational documentsfficsal

public statements, and its taxempt statusAAN appeared to hawee “certral organizational

3 This timespan covers AAN'’s spending as reported in two ofitsetairns: one return
covering July 23, 2009 through June 30, 2010; and the other covering July 1, 2010 farmeigh
30, 2011. J.A. 1490, 1518.



purpose” that was “issueentric” and nofocused orelecting candidatedd. at 1706-07. They
then turned tohe heart oCREW’scomplaint that AAN’s spending on advertisements rendered
it a political committee.ld. at 1708. In this part of their analysis, tf@ommissioners relied on a
rigid distinction between “express advocacy” for a candidatbich properly counted toward

an electoral major purposeand “issue advocacy*~which categorically did notSeeid. at
1709-410. In the Coanmissioners’ view, the Supreme Court ateérpretedhe First Amendment

to require such a categorical distinctiefirst in Buckleyand more recentlin FEC v.

Wisconsin Right to Lifelnc. (“WRTL 117), 551 U.S. 449 (2007), which held that a statute

prohibiting corporations from funding electioneering communiaaticould not, consistent with
the First Amendment, be applied to forbie funding of‘genuine issue ads” tharenot “the
functional equivalent of express advocadyg. at 480-81* Seel A. 1704-05, 1709

Relying onthe dichotomy between express and issue advoftaayWRTL I, the
Commissionersharacterize@ll of AAN’s ads that didhot expresslyadvocatdor a candidate
(i.e, its electioneering communicationa$“genuine issuadvertisements the $137 million
cost of whichcould not be counted toward alectiorrelatedmajor purposeJ.A. 1709-10
They made this determinatiovholesale without discussing the content of any individual &di.
The Commissioners alsconsderedAAN’s spending over its lifetime-mid-2009 tomid-
2011—instead ofyearto-yearand,in total foundthatonly the $4.1 million that AAN spent on
express advocadyetween 2009 and 20idas aimed to elect a candidate. at 1709. In their

view, because that spending accounted for only 15% of AAN'’s total expensig that period,

4 A few years afteWWVRTL I, the Supreme Court @itizens United558 U.S. 310
(2010), “pulled the plug on this ban once and for all, ruling unconstialtibhe prohibition on
corporate and uniorfunded ‘express advocacy.¥an Hollen Jr, 811 F.3cat490 n.1.




the groumecessarilyackeda major purpos®f nominating or electing a candidatiel. at 1709
10, 1716.

CREWfiled suit inthis Courtchallenging the FEC’s dismissal of the complaint against
AAN, as well aghe dismissabf a similar complaint againsinother organizatigrAmericans for
Job Security (“AJS”) CREW v. FEC 209 F. Supp. 3d 77,881 (D.D.C. 2016).CREW
alleged that both dismissals violated FEEAAN andAJSintervenedasadditionaldefendans
and the parties filed crossotions for summary judgmentd. at 85.

In aSeptember 2018ecision, this Court held thebthdismissad werecontrary to law
andremandedhemto theCommissiorfor reconsiderationld. at 95. As the Court explained,
the FECs reliance ora hard distinction between express advocacy and issue adviseryded
onan erroneous premise: that the First Amendment reqiiite@xclude from its consideration
all nonexpress advocacy in the contextdafclosurerequirements Id. at 93 While the

Supreme Courin WRTL Il hadconcededhdrawn such a distinctioin evaluatingabanon

corporatesponsorectlectioneeringommunicationsin McConnellandCitizens Unitedv. FEC
558 U.S. 310 (2010}t hadexpresslydeclined taake that approach evaluatingdisclosure

requirementsriggered bythosecommunications Id. at 83-90 (quotingCitizens United 558

U.S.at 369. Andin the wake of those casétederalappellate courts id resoundingly
concluded that?WRTL II’s constitutional division between express advocacy and issue speech

simply inapposite in the disclosucentext.” Id. at 90.

5 CREW initially brought a claim under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”). This
Court dismissed that claim on the ground that FECA provided CREW withdaquate
remedy” and therefore precluded review of the FEC’s determination uredaP. CREW v.
EEC, 164 F. Supp. 3d 113, 120 (D.D.C. 2015).



This Courtnevertheless declingad adoptCREW’s proposed ruléhat,to comply with
FECA, theCommissiormust treatll electioneering communications as indicative of an
electionrelatedmajor purpose. Athe Court explained:

CREW's citations to legislative history, past FEC precedent, and caoggent

certainly suppdr the conclusion thatmany or even most electioneering

communications indicate a campaigatated purpose. Indeed, it blinks reality to
conclude that many of the ads considered by the Commissioners casia were

not designed to influence the election or defeat of a particular candidate in a

ongoing race.However, particularly given the FEC’s judicially approved eage

case approach to adjudicating political committee status, the Coluefrain from

replacing the Commissioners’ briglime rulewith one of its own.
Id. at 93(citations omitted).

2. TheFEC's Second Dismissal

Onremand, the FEC again divided thiteethreeand dismissed CREW'’s complaint
against AAN. J.A. 1763. The controlling Commissioners’ Statement of Reasoksaeledged
that, in light of thisCourt’s decision, it could no longer categorically exclude AAN'’s
electioneering communicatiofr®m its majorpurpose calculatianld. at 176768. Rather, the
Commissionergxplained that they would proceedlaglad and weiglseveal factors in
deciding whetheeachelectioneering communicatiamnould count towardnelectionrelated
major purpose. These factors includgiithe extent to which the sdanguagdocuseson
“elections, voting, political partiésand the like; (2) the extent to which the ad focuses
issues important to the group or merely the candidates referenttedad”; (3) the contexif
the ad (but “only to the extent necessaryto understand better the message being conviyed”
and (4) whether the ddontains a call to action and, if so, whether the call relates to the . . .
issue agenda or, rather, to the election or defeat of federal candiddtes.1768.

Beforethey turnedo each agthe Commissiogrsexplained that all of the adanin a

time period that-while admittedly neathe federal midterm electisp-alsoprecededn



anticipated “lame duck” congrgisnal sessionJ.A. 1768-70. During that sessiorongress
was expected to “consider several pieces of major legislation, mamlying policy issues of
great importance to AANIike “Bush-era tax cuts, federal spending, health care, and energy.”
Id. at 1769. And, ashe Commission noted, Congresg ultimatelyconvene dame duck
session in December 2010 aswhsideredsome of thosessues Id. at 1769-70.

“With that context in mind,” theontrolling Commissionerthenevaluated AAN’s
twenty electioneeringommunications J.A. 1770. Theyconcluded thatour of theadsindicated
anelectionrelatedmajor purposethose titled‘Bucket,”® “New Hampshire,” “Order,” & and
“Extreme” ° 1d.at 1779. “Order” and “Extreme,” for examp#gught to criticize two
Democratic congressional candidatddike Oliverio and Annie Kusterespectively—by

linking them withNancy Pelosin unfavorable waysld. at 1778. As the Commissio@rs

¢ “We send tax money to Washington and what does Russ Feingold do witigfitt? E
hundred billion dollars for the jobless stimulus. Two point fivilion for a healthcare plan that
hurts seniors. A budget that forces udoorow nine million dollars. And when he had a chance
at reform, he voted against the Balanced Budget Amendment. Rogsel&&nd our money.
What a mess. [Superimposed text: Russ Feingold, What a mess.]” J.A. 1773.

"“Winter’s here soon. Guess Conggenan Hodes has never spent nights sleepless,
unable to pay utility bills. Why else would he vote for the-angtrade tax? Raise electric
rates by ninety percent? Increase gas to four dollars? Cost us anotheltibngahs? Kelly
Ayotte would stp the capandtrade tax. Cold.” J.A. 1777.

8 “IOn screen text:] If Nancy Pelosi gave an order . . . would ydowiat? Mike
Oliverio would. Oliverio says he would support Pelosi in Washing#dter all, Oliverio voted
himself a 33% pay raise. @ério voted for higher taxes. Even on gas. And Oliverio won't
repeal Obama’s $500 billion Medicare cuts. So what will Mike Oliverio d¥ashington?
Whatever Nancy Pelosi tells him to.” J.A. 1778.

9 “lOn screen text:] Nancy Pelosi is not extreme.mPared to Annie Kuster. Kuster
supported the trillion dollar government Healthcare takeovet.s8ys it didn't go far enough.
$525 billion in new taxes for government Healthcare. Now, Kwsaaits $700 billion in higher
taxes on families and businesseénd $846 billion in job killing taxes for cap and trade. Nancy
Pelosi is not extreme. Compared to Annie Kuster.” J.A. 1778.

1C



explained, “[n]either ad contains a call to action, nor do theysfea changing the voting
behavior or policy stances of the named individtiald. Thus, in their viewthoseads were
best understood as aimingdefeat reelection dhe named representatives

On the other hand, the Commissosfoundthat AAN’s sixteen otheelectioneering
communicationslid not evince an electierelated purposeConcedinghat theseadswere
critical ofthe incumbentepresentativethey identified the Commissioner®cused on the fact
thateach adnstructedviewers tocall the representative and urgien to change hisote ona
political issue, if not an actual pending bieeid. at 1776-79. For example, the
Commissioners declined to count the cost of an ad tirdt“Critz,” whichaccusedhen
Pennsylvania representative Mark Critz of supporting “the OHRetasi agenda that’s left us
fourteen trillion in debt J.A. 1770. The adconcludedwith an exhortation to “[t]ell
Congressman Critz that Pennsylvania families need tax rekeithiember, not more
government andit superimposetextthat instructediiewers to call Representative Critz and
tell himto vote“Yes on H.R.4746,” the House taxut bill introduced earlier that yeatd. In
evaluating that ad and several similar t ihe Commissioners explained that the’ads

referenceto “November’were“best understood as a reference to the time period in which the

10 For example, another tarlated ad titled “Wallpaper”:

Congressman Kurt Schrader is wallpapering Washington with oumtamey.
Schrader spent nearly eight hundred billion on the wasteful stimdusrtbated
few jobs but allowed big executive bonuses. He threw nearlyiartrdt Pelosi’s
health care takeover and voted to raise the national debt to over fowiftizem

Now Congress wants to raise taxes. Call Congressman Schrader. TielMoit®a
for a tax cut this November to stop wallpapering Washington withaouddllars.
[Superimposed text: “Call Congressman Schrader this Novembete td cut
taxes. Yes ohl.R. 4746. (202) 2243121."]

J.A 1771

11



lameduck session would commence” instead of a reference to the Novembemmadiection
and that “the express point of [tHeariticism” was “to marshal public sentiment to persuade the
officeholders to alter their voting stancesl’A. 1772.

Combining AAN’s spending orthe fourelectionrelatedadswith the$4.1 millionit spent
onexpress advocaggeldeda sumof $5.97 million, or 22% of AAN'’s total spending between
mid-2009 and mieR011. J.A. 1779. The Commissioners ran an alternative calculation by
addingthe cost of an ad called “Read THis>whichthey considered isstfecused but close to
the line—andby countingAAN’s spendingoveronly the most recent year in questignid-2010
to mid-2011). Id. Under that approach, “the amount of spending itidicate[d] a purpose to
nominate or elect federal candidates would constitute less than 28% ofgptahdl spending in
that time period.”ld. As a result, the Commissioners concluded that AAN did not have the
requisite major purpose of nominatingedecting a candidat@nd they therefore voted to
dismiss CREW'’s complaint against AAN Id. at 1779-80.

Soon thereaftelCREW filed a motiorfor an order to show cause why the FEC'’s
dismissal on remand did not contravens @ourt’s prior decision Pls.” Mot. Show Cause, No.
14-cv-1419(Nov. 14, 2016XECF No. 57) The Court denied the motionMemo. Op. & Order,

id. (Apr. 6, 2017) (ECF No. 74)To the extent that CREW'’s motion relied newlegal

114/0n screen text:] Rick Boucher wants to keep you in the dark. Abowvashington
Cap and Trade deal. Boucher sided with Nancy Pelosi. For billioresarenergy taxes. That
will kill thousands of Virginiagbs. But Rick Boucher didn’t just vote for Cap and Trade. The
Siena Club called Boucher the “linchpin” of the entire deal. Call Rick Baudihone number
at top of screen.] Tell him no more deals.” J.A. 1777.

12The three Commissioners who votedrneestigate AAN issued their own statement of
reasons, in which they excoriated the controlling Commissidaefgnor[ing] the court’s
ruling and the plain language of the ads that objectively criticizedidates in the weeks
preceding the 2010 eléahs.” J.A. 1785.

12



arguments—for example, that the Commissioners relied on a misreadiMgcGbnnelli—the
Court explained that those new arguments were “properly taken up iarateeguit.”1d. at 5.
The Court further found that nothing in the Commissioners’ dismigsiated the letteof its
prior decision

[T]he Court never ordered the FEC to reach a particular result, or to comsider a

particular ag—or any proportion of electioneering communicatieredection

related. Instead, the Court directed the FEC to recang&lelecision without

“exclud[ing] from its [major purpose] consideration all rexpress advocacy.”

The FEC did just that.

Id. at 6 (citation omitted).

CREW then filedthis suit against the FECAAN and AJS again intervened as
defendants. The partistpulated to dismissal of the claims against A1l thusall that
remains is the allegation that the FEC’s dismiss#h@fomplaint against AAN was contrary to
law. The parties’ crossiotions for summary judgment are now ripe.

II. Legal Standards

Wherea party challenges d&EC dismissal decisigithis Court willgrant summary
judgmentto the challenger only if thegency’s decisiowas*“contrary to law’, 52 U.S.C.
§30109(a)(8)(C), meaningither that “the FEC dismissed the complaint as a result of an
impermissible interpretation of [FECA],” or that “the FEC'’s dissal of the complaint, under a

permissible interpretation of the statute, was arbitrary or capsicaruan abuse of discretid

Orloskiv. FEC 795 F.2d 156, 161 (D.C. Cir. 1986)his same standard of review applies to all

FEC decisions, whether they be unanimous or determined by tielaate Sealed Cas@23

F.3d 775, 779 (D.C. Cir. 2000)Thisis because the Commissers voting for dismissal
“constitute a controlling group for purposes of the decision,” artlespstatement of reasons

“necessarily states the agency’s reasons for acting as itNIRISC 966 F.2d at 1476.

13



In evaluatingwhethera grouphas an electierelated major purposéhe Commissions
construingthe term “political committee” as it appears in FECA statute that the Commission
is charged with enforcingThe Courtthusreviewsthe Commission’sleterminatiorof whether

an entity is a politicalammitteeusingthe frameworlset forth inChevion U.S.A.Inc. v. Natural

Resources Defengeouncil 467 U.S. 8371984). See e.q, Orloski 795 F.2d at 16362. Under

Chevronthe Court at “Step 1” must usgaditional tools of statutory interpretatioto decide
“whether Congress had#ectly spoken to the precise question at iSsut67U.S.at 84243 &

n.9 see als@?harm. Research Mfrs. Of Am. v. Thompson251 F.3d 219, 224 (D.C. Cir. 2001)

(examining“text, structure, purpose, and legislathustory’). If so, then Congress’s resolution
must be given legal effect no matter what the agency says to the co@h@wron 467 U.Sat

843. If, on the other handhe statute is silent or ambiguous on an issue, the Court proceeds to
“Step 2” and decides whether the agency’s resolution of thewsssia reasmablepolicy

choicefor the agency to make.ld. at 845 While the Court’s review at Step 1 is plenary, at

Step 2 it is*highly deferential. Nat’l Rifle Ass’'n of Am., Inc. v. Reno216 F.3d 122, 137 (D.C.
Cir. 2000)
This Courtalso reviewsvhetherthe FEC’s dismissalias“arbitrary or capriciouspr an

abuse of discretion.Orloski, 795 F.2d afl61 This standardargely overlapsvith Chevron

Step2; thesamecore question is whether the ageacyalyzed the problemeasonably.See

Pharm. Research & Mfref Am. v. FTC, 790 F.3d 198, 209 (D.C. Cir. 2015)he Court will

hold an FEC decisionnlawful if it “entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the
problem,”it “offered an explanation for its decision that runs ¢euto the evidence before [it],

or “is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in viehegroduct of agency

14



expertise.” Motor Vehicle Mfrs. As% of U.S, Inc.v. State Farm Mut. Autonins. Co, 463

U.S. 29, 43 (1983)
[11. Analysis
CREWcontends thathe controlling Commissioneranalysis on remangksted on legal
errors—some repeated and som&w. It first claims that the Commissioners “fabricated”
multifactortest that allowed it to disregard nearly all of AAN’s electioneeaithgertisements, in

violation of this Court’s prior decisionPIs! Mot. Summ J. at 22More fundamentallysays

CREW,the Commission’s dismissal rested on a misinterpretati®@udkley and_McConnell
because iinvokedthose cases as a reasorxoludeelectioneering communications from its
major purpose analysidd. at 28-33. In CREW's view, thoseases require just the opposite
“because every electioneering communication, by reasis being an electioneering
communication, is ‘specifically inteled to affect election results Pls.” Reply at 1314
(quotingMcConnel] 540 U.S. at 127)Finally, CREW argues that the Commission’s analysis
was arbitrary and capricious becausgribred contextual evidence highly relevant to the ads’
purposeand instead “cherry picked information” in order to “excus[e] AANnirpolitical
reporting.” PIs.” Mot. Summ. J. atl.

As the Court explained in denying CREW’s motion for a sloawse ordethe
controlling Commissionerdid not repeat theimistake ofdrawing abright linebetween express
and issue advocacyhe Courtnevertheless findiegal error in the Commission&pproactio
analyzingAAN’s status as a political committegVhile thecontrolling Commissioners did not
categoricallyrefuse to counfAAN'’s electioneering advertisemeras indicative of an electien
related major purposéhe Commissionergsed a multifactor test thatarted from a blank slate

in considering the content edch agwith no apparent regarfbr the highly relevant facthat
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each adell cleanly withinCongress’s definition of arelectioneeringommunicatioti In the
Court’s view,thatapproach violates the unambiguous directive of Congressde clear in the
Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2082hat electioneeringommunicationgresumptively
havean electiorrelated purposeln turn, to the extent that the Commission considers an entity’s
spending in assessiitg major purpose, it mugiresumptively treatpending on electioneering

ads as indicating a purpose of nominating or electing a candidate.

A. In FECA and BCRA, Congress Made Clear that Electioneering Ads Prageiypt
Have a Purpose of Nominating or Electing a Federal Candidate

To understantghe Courts conclusion begin with the plain text of FECAIts definition
of “political committee”is unambiguoushyproad it covers any entity that receives or spends
over $1,00Qvithin one calendar yedor the purpose of influencing an election. If this istladi
Court had to go errandif it could disregarduckleys constitutionakconcerns—it would
conclude that AAN is a political committee under thearterms of FECA andthereforethat the
Commission was bound to determine as muséeAkins v. FEC 101 F.3d 731740(D.C. Cir.
1996) (en bandwith respect to the definition of “political committee,” “it cannot]be[
contended that the statutory languégelfis ambiguous” (emphasis added)cated on other
grounds 524 U.S. 11 (1998)

Of course afterBuckleythe Commission is not free to rely on this broad statutory
definitionalone Thequestion, then, is how the Supreme Court’s imposition of the major
purpose requiremehanges thingsHere, the context d@duckleys holding is important.The
BuckleyCourtfaced awide-rangingconstitutionalchallenge to FECAfter itwas amended in
1974 Before reaching the Act’s disclosure requirements, the Courté@rdtontedhe Act’s
$1,000annuallimit on expenditures “relative to a clearly identified candidaténdua calendar

year.” 424 U.S.at 39. The Court attempted to narrow this language to avoid vagueness
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problemsunder the First Amendmehy construing it “to apply only to expendituries
communications that iexpress termadvocate the election or defeat of a clearly identified
candidate for federal office.Id. at 44. Even with that narrowing construction, howetles,
Court foundthe provision invalid because government’s pugsted interest “in preventing
corruption and the appearance of corruption” did not support such a pesxchsestrictionld.
at 45.

By contrast, the Court uphedgveral of FECA'’s disclosure requiremenBut it imposed
narrowing constructiongn those requirement® avoid problems of vagueness and overbreadth
under the First Amendmentor thedisclosure requirements triggered by independent
expenditures, th€ourt worriedthat the Act’s definition of “expenditure~which required only
a purpose ofinfluencing” an election or nominatiercould be read to cover “both issue
discussion and advocacy of a political resuld’ at 79. So“[t]o insure that the reach of the
[provision] is not impermissibly broad,” the Court constrtiee term “expendite’ “to reach
only funds used for communications that expressly advocate the electigfeat of a clearly
identified candidate.”ld. at 80. This meant that, to trigger the Adtisclosureequirements, a
communication would need to contain “express words of advocadgatiom or defeat, such as
‘vote for,” ‘elect,’ ‘support,” ‘cast your ballot for,” ‘Smith for @hgress,’ ‘vote against,’ ‘defeat,’
[or] ‘reject,” Id. at 44 n.52see id.at 80 & n.108 Theseexpressiondave sincéeen called
Buckleys “magic words. McConnel| 540 U.S. at 126.

TheBuckleyCourtthenreached a similar conclusion with respect to disclosure
requirements triggered by “political committee” status. As therGexplained

The general requirement that “political committees” and candidatdestsiheir

expenditures could raise similar vagueness problems, for gablgommittee” is

defined only in terms of amount of annual “contributions” and “expeares,” and
could be interpreted to reach groups engaged purely | ddscussionThe lower
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courts have construed the words “political committee” more narroiyfulfill

the purposes of the Act they need only encompass organizations thaderéhen

control of a candidate or the major purpose of which is the nominatielection

of a candidate.

424 U.S. at 79Thus, the “major purpose” requirement was born.

Absentany congressional action in the decades dukley, this Courtmight find it
unclearwhetherads(1) mentionng candidategnd(2) airing near electionbut (3) not using
Buckleys “magic words’should caint towardan electiorrelated major purposeBut in passing
the Bipartisan CampaigReform Act of 2004“BCRA") , Congressinambiguoushexpressed its
will on thisissueand foreclosed thapproach that the Commission took here

In BCRA, Congressought tanitigatetwo perceived problems with federal election
financingthat wergprompted(at leastin par) by Buckley. Title | of the Actwas“Congress’
effort to plug the softmoney loophole*that is,the ability to have monegontributedto state
and local political partiesffectivelychanneled tmationalparties whileevadingFECA's
contribution limits and disclosure requiremeniécConnel] 540 U.S. at 133Title Il, the
provision relevant her@aimed to stem the tide of advertisemamminally targeted at issues but
airing near electios—a tidethatswelledafterBuckley. 1d. at 122. Specifically,“[a]s a result of
[Buckleys] strict reading of the statute, the use or omissidmafyic wordssuch as ‘Elect John
Smith’ or ‘Vote Against Jane Doenarked a bright statutory line separating ‘express advocacy’
from ‘issue advocacy.”ld. at 126. Yetin Congress’s viewthose “two categories of
advertisements proved functionally identical in importanpeets. Both were used to advocate
the election or defeat of clearly identified federal candidates, @eeigh the sealled issue ads
eschewed the use of magic word&d: And, far morethana theoretical problenthe collapsed

distinction between express advocacy and issue advocacy alloweskesntiostly corporations

and unions-to spend “hundreds of millions of dollarsn ads leading up to elections that “were
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unregulated wter FECA.” Id. at 127—28. “Moreover, though ostensibly independent of the
candidates, the ads were often actually coordinated withgariblled by, the campaignsld.
at 131. The Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs conducted “an extengegégation
into the campaign practices in the 1996 federal elections—arfdle divided along party lines
regarding some of these practicemgreed that the proliferation of-salled issue ads was a
serious problemlId. at 129.

In responseBCRA created a new category of political communicatzaiked
“electioneering communicatioris The statute’s definition of these communicatitreplace[d]
the narrowing construction of FECA'’s disclosure provisions adbolpyethis Court irBuckley’
by providing three lear criteriathat triggered regulationld. at 189. Instead of covering only
“‘communications expressly advocating the election or defeat of parttarndidates,” the new
disclosure requirements covered ads that (1) referenced to a candidatiefdoffice, (2)ran
within 60 days of a federal election, and (3) targeted the releventbedte. And the Act
imposeddisclosure requirements on entities who fehthose communicationdd. at 196-91.

This legislative history leaves little doubt thair@ress saw electioneering
communications as generally aimatdswayng voters. The Supreme Court relied heavily on this
history inMcConnel] where it upheld BCRA'’s disclosure requirements against First
Amendment challenge. 540 U.S. at 4302 (controling opinion of Stevens & O’Connor, JJ.).
The Court’s reasons for doing so further suggest that electioneenmgunications
presumptively have an electioneering purpose. In rejecting thenangthat BCRA'’s definition
of “electioneering communicationsVas unconstitutionally vague and overbrahe, Court
explained thaBuckleys distinction between express and issue advocacy “was the prdduct o

statutory interpretation rathéhan a constitutional commandld. at 192. In the Court’s view,
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BCRA'’s definition of electioneering communications createdinolar issues of vagueness or
overbreadth-its requirements were “easily understood and objectively deterraihddl at
194. Moreover,putting asideBuckleyand starting from first principtethe Court explainethat
the notion of “a rigid barrier between express advocacyseaitalled issue advocacy” could not
be “squared witHits] longstanding recognition that the presence or absence of magic werds [
“vote for Jane Dakor “vote JaneDoeout of office”] cannot meaningfully distinguish
electioneering speech from a true issue dd."at 193. As evidenced by their timing, their
identification of a specific candidate, and their targeting of theagteslectorate, it was clear
that eéctioneeringcommunications-magic words or net-"were specifically intended to affect
election results.”ld. at 127 In short, the Supreme Court’s reading of BCRA corroborates that
Congress deemed electioneeraognmunicationsis paradigmatically aimeat swayng voters!?
Evenignoring all of this legislative history and Supreme Court analsagress’s
intentregardingthese adss manifesin its verychoice of labellinghem*“electioneering
communications Instead of using aeutral ternmlike “communicationsnade neafederal
elections; Congress chosglabelthatby itsplain meaningleemghe adsto “take partactively

and energetically in a campaign to be elected to public dffiEéectioneey Oxford Dictionary

of English565 (3d ed. 2010kee alsdlectioneer American Heritage Dictionarfbth ed. 2018)

(“To work actively for a candidate or political pafy Congress’serms like its statutory

13 While McConnellwas a fractured decision, a majority of the Justices voted to uphold
the disclosure requirements for the reasons stated in the cogtaginion written by Justices
Stevens and O’ConnoiSee540 U.S. at 201 (opinioof Stevens & O’Connor, J.J., joined by
Souter, Ginsburg & Breyer, J.Jsge alsad. at 286 n.*, 321 (opinion of Kennedy, J., joined by
Rehnquist, C.J., and Scalia, J.) (voting to uphold the relevantgliselprovisions). And all but
one of the Justicein Citizens Unitedelied on the same rationale in rejecting a challenge to
BCRA's electioneeringelated disclosure requirements as applied to certain political ads. 558
U.S. at 36869;id. at 396 (Stevens, J., concurring in part and dissenting ih part
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headingssurely“supply clues” about itsitent Yates v. United Stated35 S. Ct. 10741083

(2015);see alsoe.g, Trainmen v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R. G831 U.S. 519, 5229 (1947)

(explaining that “the title of a statute and the heading of a section” are daailable for the
resolution of a doubt”) Here, the clue is hardsubtle Why would Congress call somethiag
“electioneering communicationf that thingdid notgenerallyhavea “purposeto nominate or
electa candidatg in the sense meant Buckley?

It is true thaBCRA did not touch the text of FECA'’s definition gbdlitical committe€’
But a later congressional act can inform the meaning of an eankamnd, importantly here, can
clarify existing ambiguities“At the time a statute is enacted, it may have a range of plausible
meanings,” butsubsequent acts can shape or focus those meanings. . . . Thicidgrriso
where the scope of the earlier statute is broad but the subsequent statatspeauifically

address the topic at handEDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp529 U.S. 120, 143

(2000) see #&0 United States v. Estate of Romab?3 U.S. 517, 53681 (1998) (“[A] specific

policy embodied in a later federal statute should control ourwmtsin of the priority statute,
even thouglit had not been expressiynended). Here, bydeclaringthat(by and large)
electioneering communications have an inherentqaef influencing &deralelection
Congress haslarified thatthe broadterm “political committee*—evenafter Buckley—should
presumptively include organizations that are primarihha business dtinding electioneering
communications

Why only “presumptivel}? Despite the foregoing evidence of Congress’s intent
regarding electioneering ads, the Court is not convitit®dCongress intended ¢ategorically
foreclose the Commission from declining to treat a particular efegtiing ad as supporting an

electionrelated major purposdn rejecting a facial challenge to BCRA's electioneering
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restrictionsMcConnellrecognized thasomeads falling within BCRA's definition of

“electioneering advertisements” may not have a trelectioneering purposeeven if “the vast
majority of ads clearly had such a purpos®40 U.S. at 206 The precise percentage of issue
ads that clearly identified a candidate and were aired during thosealglatiief preelection
timespans but had no electioneering purpose is a matter of dispueebehe& parties and
among the judges on the District Coplo#low].”).

In other words, Congress seems to have left open a small interpiagtistiey BCRA
onethat allows the Commission, using its chgecase approach, to deem an extraordinary
“electioneeringommunication’as lacking an electierelated purposeThe followingad for
example, would seem fall within the letter o0BCRA'’s definition It runs60 days before a
midterm electionit does not mention the election@renindirectly reference itg.g, by
cabining themessage’simeframe td‘this November”) the meat of the ad discusses the
substance of proposed billthe adurges thesziewerto cll a named incumbent representative
and request that she vdte the bill; butit does not make any reference to the incumbent’s prior
voting history or otherwise criticize heGee52 U.S.C. § 30104(H)(8)\). That might be the sort
of electioneering ammunicatiorthat could, under the Commission’s cdigecase approach,
properly be deemed lacking atectionrelatedpurpose undeBuckleydespite meeting BCRA's
definition of “electioneering communicatich

But the Court expects such an ad to be ae&ception. Congress has made a judgment

thatrun-of-the-mill electioneeringommunicationfiavethe purpose of influencingnelection;
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an ad meeting the statutory definition of@rctioneeringommunication generally indicates a
purpose of nominatingr electing a candidate.

B. The Commission’s AnalysisiB® Not Give Effect toCongress's Clear Intent

The controlling Commissioners’ multifactor analysis ignoreagfess’s expressedtent
regardingelectioneering advertisementEhevery first sentence dheir multifactor tesspeaks
volumes “In evaluating major purpose, our starting point is thguege of the communication
itself.” J.A.1767. Starting with the language ofmlitical ad might be justifiable if the ad aired
nowhere near gederal eletion, or if it did not mention a candidate. But, as just explained, when
it comes to electioneeringpmmunication€ongress has already determined that they are
presumptively designed to influence electioiheremainder of th€ommission’s tesh no
way accounts fothatfact:

[W]e look at the ad’s specific language for references to candidaciegmreect

voting, political parties, or other indicia that the costs of thetedild be counted

towards a determination that the organization’s major purpose isntmaie or

elect candlates. We also examing¢he extent to which the ad focuses on issues

important to the group or merely othe candidates referenced in the ad.

Additionally, we consider informatiobeyond the content of the ad only to the

extent necessary to provideontext to understand better the message being

conveyed. Finally, we ascertain whether the communication contains a call to
action and, if sowhether the call relates to tepeaker's issue agenda or, rather, to
the election or defeat of federal candidates.
J.A.1767—-68.The Commission may be permitted to use these or similar factorseissasy
whether an electioneering astercomeshe presumptiorthat it is aimed to elect a candidate.
But engagng in a holistic,de novareview of the ad based on thosetbrsallows the

Commission to treat ruaf-the-mill electioneering adsthose highly critical of a candidate’s

positions but lacking the “magic words” directing viewers to vote hinoboffice—as not
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indicating an electioneering purposthat frameworkcannot be squared with Congress’s views
on the issue.

Indeed the controlling Commissionersanalysis 0fAAN’s adsin this case is strong
evidence that themultifactorapproachif anything, builds in @resumptiorthat runs in the
oppositedirection of what Congress intendede., that it tilts the balance in favor of finding
that electioneering communications mlat have an electioneering purposeakethe ad titled
“Skype” which identified Congresswoman Dina Titus, a Democrat from Nevadanas
narrowly defeated in her 2010 reelection: bid

Person I:Hey, whats up?

Person 2:Hey. You have to check out the ait# | just sent youApparently
convicted rapists can get Viagra paid for by the new health care bill.

Person 1:Are you ®rious?

Person 2:Yep. | mean, Viagra forapist® With my tax dollars?And
Congresswoman Titusted for it.

Person 1:Titus voted for it?

Person 2:Yep. | mean, what is going on in Washington?

Person 1 In November, w need to tellitus to epeal it. [Superimposed text:

“Tell Congresswoman Titu® vote for repeal in NovembeNote Yes on H.R.

4903. (202) 22532527]
J.A.1776.

The controlling Commissio@rsdid not find that this adnpr any othersnentioning
healthcarehad an electiomelated purpose. “The criticisms contained in the”dtsy
explained,‘are couched in terms of past votes taken by the named officeholder and are

accompanied by calls to action designed to influence the officeholdd¢es m the lameluck

session.”J.A. 1776. Seriously?ls it really plausible that the attack Titus’s past vote for the
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Affordable Care Act—for supplying “Viagra to rapists” no lessvasdesignedo mobilize
Titus’s constituents to change her view the Obama Administration’sgsiatue legislative
initiative, rather than to oust her from office for casting that vote? And woulglassicated
organization like AANconceiably invest millions of dollars on ads in an effort to get the
Democratiecontrolled Hous¢hat had juspassed théct to turn around and repealohly
months late? Perhaps the ad could be charitably read as having a dual purpagbesome
viewers wouldndeedbe motivated to call Titus and tell her to védea healthcareepeal billif
it came up in the anticipated lardecksession. (That turned out to be a big—=Hthe
Commission cites nevidence and the Court is aware of nonleat theHouseactually
consideredarepeal billduring theDecembetameduck session But surely the primary
purpose of this ad was to convindewersto vote against Titusindeedthe adis awfully close
to the hypothetical posed by the Supreme Couvta@onnellto highlight the illusory distinction
between express advocacy and issue advodacgd that, instead of urging viewers to “vote
against Jane Doe,” “condemned Jane Boetord on a particular issue before exhorting viewers
to ‘call Jane Doe and tell her what you think.” 540 U.SL2&(quoting 251 F. Supp. 24076,
304 (D.D.C. 2003)XHenderson, J., concurring tihe judgment in part and dissenting in part)).
Thatthe CommissiorersreadilycharacterizedSkype” andsimilar adsasunrelated to elections
demonstrates the mismatch betw#sgir framework and Congress’s understanding of
electioneering adsTheir approach in fact flirts with reverse*magic words” test
electioneering communicatiotisat harangue a candidate are exempt so long as they instruct the
viewer to“call’ her representativether tharto “vote against™him.

None of the Commissionarguments in favor afs approach are availings it did

when justifying its first dismissal, the CommissicitesWRTL 1l, which (again) found that
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spendingon electioneering communications could be restricted only if thevads as an
objective matterithe functional equivalent of expresdwacacy, id. at 469. Relying onthat
case theCommission insts thateven ifit may notapplya categorical rule that turns on whether
the ad contains express adaog(or the functional equivalent} mayconsidermwhether the ad
resembles express advocatcyleciding whetheit has an electionelated purposeFEC’s Mot.
Summ J. at 40 (“[The Court’s] determination did not preclude Commisssoinem analyzing
AAN'’s communications by reference to their content, consistehttivét Supreme Court’s
analysis inWRTL, when considering whether the ads were electoral in nature.”). That'saru
far as it goesthe Commission is not outrigf@rbiddenfrom considering the conteaf an
electioneering communication. But because of BCR&t consideration must folv a strong
presumption that an electioneeriogmmunication indicatea purpose of electing a candidate.
More fundamentally, the Commissiocantinues to overread/RTL 1l for theideathat
the primarygoalin evaluating AANS adsshould be to determinghether the adsontentbears
“indicia of express advocacy FEC’s Mot. Summ. J. at 39 (quoti’yRTL II, 551 U.S. at 470).
WRTL Il focusednarrowlyon an electioneering communication’s content, to the exclusion of
“contextual factors” like the ad’s timing, for a particular reason: th& Bimendment demaed
anobjective, narrowly tailored standard toanson speech551 U.S. at 473eeid. at 469-70
(examining whether ad’s content had “indicia of express advocaByil, again McConnelland

Citizens Unitedv. FEG—the latter of which came aft®¢/RTL |I—foredoseany argument that

in the disclosuresettingthe First Amendmentequires that a regulated communicatomtain

thefunctional equivalent of express advoca8ee alsdndependence Institute v. FEZ16 F.

Supp. 3d 176, 193 (D.D.C. 201@illett, J.) (in rejectinga constitutionakchallenge tahedonor

disclosure requiremeiais applied to a particulatectioneering communication, explaining that
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the challenger’sproposeé constitutional exception fogénuine’issue advocacy is entirely
unworkableas a constitutional rule In other words, th&upreme Couthas seeno problem
with disclosure requirements triggered solely hye&ectioneeringommunication’s context: its
timing, its reference to a candidate, and its viewersAimd Congress’s vie, made plain in
BCRA, is thatthe presence of thosentextal factoranherently sugges@nelectionrelated
purpose.

The Commissiorfalls back orBuckley. In the Commission’s view, the fact titickley
read FECA to avoidegulating groups engaged pely in issue discussigh424 U.S. at 79,
meanghat the Commissiomustevaluate the content ah entity’spolitical adsto determine
whetherthe adsare, in fact, “issue discussidnBut again Congress in BCRAabined some of
the Commission’sliscretionby defining a subset of political adslectioneering
communications-that by definition are related to federal electioAdéter BCRA, the
Commissiorcannotreview electioneeringommunicationsle novao determine whether they
qualify as puressue discussionThe statutemphaticallyplaced electioneering advertisements
on theelectionrelatedside ofBuckleys line, and the Commission musay heed tahat
placementvhen evaluating the major purpose of an entity that spends momdgobionering
communications.

Finally, the Commissioemphasizethis Court’s prior refusal to impose a briginte
rule—onethat would require it to count all electioneering communicationatdwan election
related major purpose. According to the Commissiaat, rgfusal implicitly endorsed its
approacho electioneering communicatianEEC’s Mot. Summ. J. at 36Not so. To be sure,
the Court continues to belietigat an inflexible rule would becompatiblewith the FEC'’s

recognized power to resolve majourpose questions on a cdsecase basis. Such a raleuld
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alsoconflict with the Supreme Court’s recognitionMtConnellthat some “issue adshight

really bejust that, even if run near electionshat does not meathough that the Commission
hasunfettered discretion to judgelectioneering ads. Rather, FECA and BGRake cleathat
Congress intended to foreclase Commission fromapplying a majoipurposerameworkthat

does not, at a minimurpresumptivelyconsider spending on electioneering ads as indicating an
electionrelated major purposé. The Commission may ispecialcircumstances conclude that

an electioneering adloes not have such a purpo$t givenCongress’s recognitiotiat the

“vast majority” of electioneering ads have the purpose of electing a camdidaCommission’s
exclusion of electioneering aff®em its major-purpose analysshouldbe therareexception, not

the rule McConnel| 540 U.S. at 206see alscCREW, 209 F. Supp. 3d at 93 (“[I]t blinks reality

to conclude that many of the ads considered by the Commissioners ¢ashiwere not designed
to influence the election or defeat of a particular candidate in an ongoing.race.

Having found a legal error in the Conssiorers’ approach, the appropriate remedy here
is to remand this matter to t@®mmission The Courappreciateshat the Commission may, on
remand, yet again exclud®m its analysisome of theadsthatit previously excluded But
because theontrdling Commissioners did not begin with a presumption that an electioneering

ad evincesnelectionrelatedpurpose, the Court is neb confident that theywould reach the

14 This is not to say that spending on advertisements is the solamefactor in
determining an entity’'s major purpose. The point here is thiaetextent that spending on
advertisings relevart—and surelyit is to some degreethe Commissiomust account for
spending in a way that reflects an electioneering ad’s presumptive pufafiecting an
upcoming election.
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same outcomen remando warrantaffirming their decision under therinciple of “harmless
error.®
V. Conclusion

The Courtrecognizeghat the Commission, like all executive agencies, must comply with
directives from the two other branches of governmatitectives that sometimes push the
agency in opposite direction3.he problem here ihat the FEC has equated two directives that
are plainly unequal in their relevance to the issue at h@odgress decades algad down a
clear, broad definition of the term “political committae"FECAthat would obviously capture
AAN; theSupreme Court iBuckleythencabinedthat definitionin a way that requires the
Commission to conduct a major purpose analyBist Congresdater clarified, through BCRA,
that it viewed the vast majority of electioneering communications ashmatinga purpose of
electing candidates to federal office. And while the Supreme Court in keases has struck
downotheraspects of FECAnd BCRA it has never suggested tlitatconstitutional concerns
apply in the realm adlisclosure requirement$ndeal, the Supreme CouHhas now twice
reaffirmed that there is no constitutiokdtinctionbetween issubased and express advocaty
thedisclosure contextAbsentsuch adistinction FECA and BCRA require the agency to

presume that spending on electierieg communications contributes to a “major purpade

15 Because the Administrative Procedure Act instructs courts to take “duenaccoof
the rule of prejudicial error,” 5 U.S. 8§ 706, courts reviewing agency action under that Act will
not remand to the agency if “the agency’s mistake did not affecutberoe.” PDK Labs., Inc.
v. DEA, 362 F.3d 786, 799 (D.C. Cir. 2004). Though FECA contains no express reqticfmen
prejudce, courts have invoked the principle in reviewing an FEC decision.eSeéevel the
Playing Field v. FEC, 232 F. Supp. 3d 130,-42(D.D.C. 2017). The Court therefore assumes
that, in theory, a harmless legal error would not require reimgulliscase to the Commission.
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nominating or electing a candiddte federal officeand, in turn, to presume that such spending
supports designating an entity afalitical committe& under FECA.

Because the Commission failemapplythosepresumptions, itdismissal of CREW'’s
complaints against AAN wdsontrary to law. The Court, accordingly, will grant CREW’s
motion for summary judgment, deny the FEC’s and AAN’s crassions, and diredhe
Commission to conform witthis declaration within 30 day$2 U.S.C. § 3010@)8)(C). If the
FEC does natimely conform with the Court’s declaratiocBREW may bring & civil action to
remedy the violation involved in the original complaintd. A separatérder accompaniefiis

Memorandum Opinion.

%Z#W Z. @%

CHRISTOPHER R. COOPER
United States District Judge

Date: March20, 2018
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